2004

Lynn G. Foster v. Evelyn L. Saunders; Saunders & Saunders; Gary Couillard; and Cathie I. Foster : Opening Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This matter was transferred to the Court of Appeals by the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(4). This Court has Jurisdiction to decide appellants' appeal pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. **Issue:** Did the trial court err when it dismissed with prejudice Plaintiff's First, Second and Third Causes of Action, under UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6), for failure to state a claim?

Standard of Review: "Because the propriety of a 12(b)[6] dismissal is a question of law, we give the trial court's ruling no deference and review it under a correctness standard." *Doe v. Corporation of the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 2004 UT App. 274, ¶ 8, ___ P.3d ____.

2. **Issue:** Did the trial court err when it granted summary judgment in favor of Cathie and Couillard on Plaintiff's Fourth and Fifth Causes of Action?

Standard of Review: "Because summary judgment is granted as a matter of law rather than fact, the appellate court is free to reappraise the trial court's legal conclusions. The appellate court reviews those conclusions for correctness, without according deference to the trial court." *Brown v. Weis*, 871 P.2d 552, 559 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (citations omitted).

3. **Issue:** Did the trial court err when it overruled Plaintiff's Rule 56(f) objection?

Standard of Review: "We review a district court's rule 56(f) discovery

rulings for abuse of discretion.” *Grynberg v. Questar Pipeline Co.*, 2003 UT 8, ¶ 56, 70 P.3d 1, 14.

APPLICABLE STATUTES AND RULES

UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6):

Rule 12. Defenses and objections.

(b) How presented. Every defense, in law or fact, to claim for relief in any pleading, whether a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall be asserted in the responsive pleading thereto if one is required, except that the following defenses may at the option of the pleader be made by motion: . . . (6) failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted A motion making any of these defenses shall be made before pleading if a further pleading is permitted. No defense or objection is waived by being joined with one or more other defenses or objections in a responsive pleading or motion or by further pleading after the denial of such motion or objection. If a pleading sets forth a claim for relief to which the adverse party is not required to serve a responsive pleading, the adverse party may assert at the trial any defense in law or fact to that claim for relief. If, on a motion asserting the defense numbered (6) to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56.

UTAH R. CIV. P. 56, Summary judgment. See Addendum 1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This case deals with claims for the wrongful initiation, continuation or use of civil proceedings, arising out of a divorce case, a slander of a non-party to the divorce case's title to real estate, which real estate is not part of the marital estate in the divorce

case, and damages caused to one spouse by virtue of the other's filing of a false tax return that foreseeably resulted in an audit of the first.

The civil proceedings in which the misconduct complained of took place involved appellant, Lynn G. Foster ("Lynn"), who was a respondent in the divorce action of *Foster v. Foster*, Case No. 004600010, in the Third District Court, Summit County, State of Utah (the "Divorce Action"). Lynn's ex-wife, Appellee Cathie I. Foster ("Cathie") was the petitioner in the Divorce Action.

Cathie was represented in the Divorce Action by Appellees Evelyn L. Saunders ("Saunders") and the law firm of Saunders & Saunders ("Law Firm"). During the course of the Divorce Action, Saunders, on Cathie's behalf, and, Lynn claims, as an abusive litigation tactic designed to impose needless expense on him, asserted a series of meritless claims, upon which Lynn prevailed and Cathie lost. These claims included the assertion by Cathie that Lynn, although well past the age of 65, at which many Americans retire, could not only not retire, but that he could not in any way reduce his income-producing activities during his elderly years, because he had chosen to marry a woman many years younger than him. Cathie, aided by Appellee Gary Couillard ("Couillard"), her expert witness in the Divorce Action, asserted that assets owned by non-party entities, in which persons unrelated to the Divorce Action held ownership interests, could be ordered to be sold so that the Court could award Cathie \$1.2 million in cash, instead of a percentage interest in marital property. This contention was made, and re-made, despite the fact that such sum of cash was not available through the marital estate. A summary of the false statements and groundless arguments made by Cathie, Saunders and Couillard in the Divorce Action, which were not pleaded, but

which obviously “could be proved” are set forth below in the statement of facts.

Ultimately, the trial court in the Divorce Action ruled in Lynn’s favor on these, and other, meritless assertions. The trial court *expressly condemned* the utterly abusive waste of resources caused by the making of such groundless assertions, chastising Cathie, Saunders and Couillard as follows:

The court has seldom seen less credible analysis nor a more blatantly overworked file, with virtually no ultimate advancement of the client’s position. When the expert’s evidence (which was overwhelmingly passionate advocacy, not expert analysis) was considered in its totality, it did virtually nothing to aid the court’s determination of the issues. . . .In addition, both the expert and petitioner’s counsel chose to advance novel theories at significant cost in legal and accounting services to the client.

Amended Complaint, ¶ 11. (R. 19-20). At the trial court level in this case, Saunders attempted to suggest that Lynn was somehow “disgruntled” with his result in the Divorce Action, and that his motive in asserting this action was founded in such displeasure. It is difficult to square Judge Hilder’s rulings in favor of Lynn with any dissatisfaction on Lynn’s part and, indeed, nothing could be further from the truth, as Lynn prevailed on every major issue he litigated. In any event, under Rule 12(b)(6) and Rule 56, such a proposition against Lynn could not be assumed.

In addition to seeking recovery of all of the attorney fees, costs and expenses that were incurred by Lynn in responding to Cathie’s abusive litigation tactics, Lynn asserted two claims, as assignee, for slander of title. Each of the assignors is a separate legal entity, not a party to the Divorce Action, and one of which neither Lynn nor Cathie had any interest in. Nevertheless, Cathie slandered the good and marketable title of these two entities in real estate they own by virtue of a statement she

made in an affidavit. One publication of that affidavit occurred via its filing in the Divorce Action. While Cathie asserts that the judicial privilege applies to that statement, the good title to this real estate owned by these non-parties to the Divorce Action could not be pertinent to the marital estate that was at issue in the Divorce Action., as a matter of law. The trial court nevertheless dismissed, under UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6).

Finally, Lynn asserted claims against Cathy and Couillard for jointly participating in the filing of a false tax return by Cathie, the falsehoods in which foreseeably led to an IRS audit of Lynn's individual tax return. The trial court dismissed these causes under UTAH R. CIV. P. 56.

B. Course of Proceedings.

Defendants moved to dismiss all Counts of the Amended Complaint, shortly after they were served with process. The defendants supported their motions with materials external to the Amended Complaint. The trial court refused to consider such materials, and dismissed Count I of the Amended Complaint, for the wrongful initiation, continuation and use of civil proceedings claim, and Counts II and III of the Amended Complaint, for slander of the title of two non-parties' real estate, which claims were assigned to Lynn, under UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6), with prejudice, for failure to state a claim. At the same time, as to Counts IV and V, the trial court directed that the remaining defendants, Cathie and Couillard, re-assert their motion, as to Counts IV and V, by complying with the requirements of Rule 56, by setting forth factual statements as to which they contended there was no material dispute. Cathie made such a motion. Lynn responded to that motion with two Rule 56(f) affidavits, since discovery had not

yet even commenced, let alone been completed, and with such facts as he could present without discovery. The trial court implicitly denied the Rule 56(f) objection, because it granted summary judgment in favor of Cathie, on the remaining claims for breach of duty and interference, arising out of the filing of false tax returns by Cathie, under UTAH R. CIV. P. 56. Couillard then moved to join Cathie's motion, and Lynn stipulated that Couillard's position on those claims was identical with Cathie's, whereupon the trial court granted summary judgment to Couillard on Counts IV and V, as well, thereby resulting in a final judgment.

C. Disposition By Trial Court.

The trial court disposed of the first three causes of action on motion to dismiss, by dismissing the claims asserted therein with prejudice. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Cathie and Couillard on the fourth and fifth causes of action, thereby rendering final judgment on all claims against all parties.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Foster Family Properties, L.L.C., a Utah Limited Liability Company ("FFP") is the owner of certain real estate located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah. Amended Complaint ("Am. Compl.") at ¶ 2; R. 18.

2. Foster Rentals, L.C., a Utah Limited Liability Company ("FRLC") is the owner of certain real estate located in Salt Lake County and in Utah County, State of Utah. Am. Compl. at ¶ 3; R. 18.

3. Lynn is an individual who currently resides in Salt Lake County, but earlier resided in Summit County, Utah, when he was a party respondent in a divorce action

styled *Cathie Foster, Petitioner v. Lynn G. Foster, Respondent*, Case No. 004600010, in the Third District Court, Summit County, State of Utah. Am. Compl. at ¶ 4; R. 18.

4. Defendant Cathie I. Foster (“Cathie”), Lynn’s ex-wife, was the petitioner in the above-referenced divorce action. Am. Compl. at ¶ 5; R. 18.

5. Defendant Evelyn L. Saunders (“Saunders”) is an attorney, licensed to practice law in the state of Utah and a member of the Utah State Bar, and represented Cathie in the divorce action. Am. Compl. at ¶ 6; R. 18.

6. The law firm of Saunders & Saunders is a general partnership consisting of defendant Evelyn L. Saunders and Barney R. Saunders, and is located in Park City, Utah (hereinafter “Law Firm”), which at all times was the employer of Saunders, and all acts of Saunders complained of herein were undertaken within the course and scope of her employment by Law Firm, which were also in truth and fact the acts of Law Firm, itself, and for which Law Firm is also liable. Am. Compl. at ¶ 7; R. 18.

7. Defendant Gary R. Couillard (“Couillard”) was hired by Saunders as an expert witness in the divorce action between Cathie and Lynn. Am. Compl. at ¶ 8; R. 19.

8. In addition to the standard issues raised in any divorce action, Saunders initiated, used and/or asserted meritless theories, bereft of any legitimate basis in either law, fact, or both. Am. Compl. at ¶ 9; R. 19. The trial court in the divorce action rejected these theories as typified in the following exchange:

Ms. Saunders: What she is going to do is we determined that she will only get alimony for the life expectancy as opposed to the 22 years of marriage. It will be 13.1 years. And when he is not around anymore, she’s got to look at what is it going to cost her to live for the rest of her life and it’s not - -

The Court: Try and support her at a level that she can prepare for these future years, you are really be [sic] default or effectively saying, "You are going to continue supporting me from the grave, because you are going to do a bunch up front so I can stay at that level."

The reality is when the obligor dies or remarries, it's a different world. It's rough, but it's a different world.

* * *

The Court: Have you got any legal support for this? I mean I do truly recognize it as creative. But do you have any legal support?

Ms. Saunders: I'm forging new law.

Tr. 134:25 - 135:19; R. 988-989.

9. In an effort to artificially inflate the value of the marital assets, Coulliard sought and obtained an unauthorized second appraisal from Phil Cooke on the K Street apartments. Phil Cooke was selected by Saunders and Cathie with Court approval. The initial appraisal was court ordered. The second was not, but resulted from Coulliard's private challenge to Cooke of his initial appraisal. The difference was \$80,000. The Court accepted the first and rejected the second K Street appraisal. R. 901- 904, 913.

10. Saunders and Couillard entered into an agreement with each other with respect to the advancement of these misplaced theories in the divorce action and each undertook one or more overt acts in furtherance thereof, thereby subjecting each of them to full liability as a co-conspirator for all of the damages caused by the conspiracy. As part of the conspiracy, Couillard intentionally misrepresented the facts of the case, and intentionally misrepresented expert opinions as valid when he knew they were not

valid in divorce cases, under the law, generally, under the facts of the case or under accepted accounting principles. Am. Compl. at ¶ 10; R. 19.

11. In his ruling in the divorce action, dated December 24, 2001, the Honorable Robert K. Hilder has specifically stated with respect to Couillard's participation in the conspiracy that:

The court has seldom seen less credible analysis nor a more blatantly overworked file, with virtually no ultimate advancement of the client's position. When the expert's evidence (which was overwhelmingly passionate advocacy, not expert analysis) was considered in its totality, it did virtually nothing to aid the court's determination of the issues.

R 668.

Indicting both Couillard and Saunders, Judge Hilder continued:

In addition, both the expert and petitioner's counsel chose to advance novel theories at significant cost in legal and accounting services to the client.

Am. Compl. at ¶ 11; R. 19-20, 668.

12. At least one of the meritless theories advanced by Saunders in the litigation was that Cathie and/or Lynn held some ownership interest in certain real estate owned by FRLC, and in other real estate owned by FFP, which Cathie had quit-claimed to the contrary. Am. Compl. at ¶ 12; R. 20.

13. Saunders caused Cathie to execute a false affidavit to that effect and Saunders then caused that false affidavit to be filed and published in the public record in the divorce litigation. Cathie did so knowing the averments in the affidavit to be false. Am. Compl. at ¶ 13; R. 20.

14. That affidavit specifically, and falsely, stated "there are numerous

commercial properties in which this Affiant [Cathie] and/or the Respondent [Lynn] have an ownership interest.” Am. Compl. at ¶ 14; R. 20, 30-32

15. In paragraph 5 of that affidavit, it falsely asserts that Cathie and/or Lynn owned legal title to property at 602, 612 and 614 East 300 South, in Salt Lake City, Utah, which property was in fact specifically and truthfully owned by FFP, pursuant to, among other things, a quit-claim deed signed by Cathie. Am. Compl. at ¶ 15; R. 20, 31.

16. The affidavit also falsely asserted, contrary to deeds signed by Cathie, that Cathie and/or Lynn owned 831 and 835 First Avenue, in Salt Lake City, 65 “N” Street in Salt Lake City, 830 East Sixth Avenue in Salt Lake City, 374 Fourth Avenue in Salt Lake City, 128 “K” Street in Salt Lake City, and 229 East 900 North and 244 East 950 North, both in Lehi, Utah, all of which belong to FRLC. Am. Compl. at ¶ 16; R. 20.

17. FRLC filed suit in the Third District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah against Lynn and Cathie, Case No. 010901668, and obtained a judgment and decree quieting title on July 30, 2001. The judgment is final, as no appeal was timely taken. Am. Compl. at ¶ 17; R. 21.

18. Without authority from Lynn, defendant Couillard prepared a Form 1040 joint return naming Lynn and Cathie for filing by Cathie, alone, for the year 2000, which Form was executed solely by Cathie only on March 14, 2001 and submitted to the Internal Revenue Service. Am. Compl. at ¶ 18; R. 21. That Form was false and fraudulent, and contained intentional misrepresentations by Couillard, in the following particulars:

- a. It purports to be “self-prepared” although Couillard prepared it.
- b. The form falsely claims exemptions for Lynn, Greg Foster and Brad

Foster, when there was no basis for an exemption for Lynn of any kind and Lynn provided more than one-half of the support for Greg Foster and Brad Foster and was, therefore, entitled to the exemptions for Greg Foster and Brad Foster.

c. Couillard falsely represented in his preparation of the form that it was a joint return when he knew that it was not, in fact a joint return. Couillard knew Lynn had previously filed separate 2000 tax returns.

Am. Compl. at ¶ 19; R. 21.

19. Cathie authorized Saunders and Couillard to perform all of their actions as her agents, and their acts are therefore legally also the acts of Cathie for which she is liable. Am. Compl. at ¶ 20; R. 21.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Counts I, II and III of the Amended Complaint were dismissed by the trial court, with prejudice, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). That dismissal was erroneous, for the following reasons. Lynn properly pleaded the elements of each cause of action asserted in Counts I, II and III in sufficient fashion to comply with the notice pleading requirements of Utah R. Civ. P. 8. Defendants have fair notice of the claims against them and that is all that UTAH R. CIV. P. 8 requires.

Defendants had submitted materials extraneous to the Amended Complaint in support of affirmative defenses that they asserted by way of their UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6) motions. Although the trial court did not convert the motion to one under UTAH R. CIV. P. 56 and, therefore, could not have considered those extraneous materials, it improperly adjudicated the affirmative defenses in favor of defendants.

The affirmative defense of judicial immunity upon which the trial court relied to dismiss Count I is not applicable to the tort of wrongful initiation, continuation and/or use of civil proceedings. The judicial privilege does not apply to Counts II and III because the title held in real estate by Foster Rentals, LC ("FRLC") and Foster Family Properties LC ("FFP") was not at issue in the Divorce Action, those entities were not parties to the Divorce Action and both of those entities obtained a decree quieting title as between them and Cathie. The slander of title actions are not barred by statute of limitations because slander of title is an injury to real property which comes under the express three-year statute of limitations. Finally, claim preclusion does not bar FRLC's claim because its decree quieting title did not release any claim against Saunders' law firm and/or Couillard, who were not parties to that action and because the slander of title claim that was asserted in that action was dismissed without prejudice.

As to the summary judgment entered on the claims arising from Cathie's filing of a false joint tax return that led to an IRS audit of Lynn's individual tax return and damages flowing therefrom, such summary judgment was improper because of the genuine issues of material fact contained in Lynn Foster's affidavit, because other, material facts were held exclusively by defendants or non-parties and could not be obtained by Lynn since discovery had not even commenced and because the foreseeability of an IRS audit could not be determined at such an early stage of the case without developing the facts. The trial court's refusal to allow Lynn to conduct discovery before ruling on the motion for summary judgment was an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. LEGAL STANDARDS OF REVIEW APPLICABLE TO RULE 12(B)(6) AND RULE 56 DECISIONS.

This case is before this Court for review of the dismissal with prejudice of Counts I, II and III of Lynn's Amended Complaint, under UTAH R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6), and the grant of summary judgment in favor of Cathie and Couillard on Counts IV and V. Both of these rulings are reviewable under a "correctness" standard. "Because the propriety of a 12(b)[6] dismissal is a question of law, we give the trial court's ruling no deference and review it under a correctness standard." *Doe v. Corporation of the President of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 2004 UT App. 274, ¶ 8, ___ P.3d ___. "A trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment is reviewed for correctness." *Snow v. Rudd*, 998 P.2d 262, 265, 2000 UT 20, ¶ 9.

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