2004

Lynn G. Foster v. Evelyn L. Saunders; Saunders and Saunders, Gary Couillard; and Cathie I. Foster : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

First, these assertions directly contradict well-established law that documents “referred to” in a plaintiff’s complaint and which are central to a plaintiff’s claim “may be considered on a motion to dismiss.” GFF Corp. v. Assoc. Wholesale Grocers, Inc., 130 F.3d 1381, 1384 (10th Cir. 1997); Nester v. Bank One Corp., 224 F. Supp. 2d 1344, 1345-46 (D. Utah 2002) (same); see also 5 Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure: Civil 2d § 1327, at 762-63 (“[W]hen a plaintiff fails to introduce a pertinent document as part of his pleading, defendant may introduce the exhibit as part of his motion attacking the pleading.”). According to the Utah Supreme Court, the reason for this is that otherwise, “a plaintiff with a deficient claim could survive a motion to dismiss simply by not attaching a dispositive document upon which the plaintiff relied.”

Oakwood Vill. L.L.C. v. Albertsons, Inc., 2004 UT 101, ¶ 13 (Utah 2004) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). Judge Hilder’s Ruling, no less than the affidavit submitted by Cathie, is not only “central” to Lynn’s claims, it forms the basis for his entire complaint, and not least because Lynn directly quoted portions of it therein. (Am. Compl. ¶ 11; R. 19-20.) Indeed, Lynn again quotes portions of the Ruling to make his case on appeal, even as he claims that examination of the remainder of the Ruling is impermissible. (Appellant’s Br. at 4, 9.)

Second, in Utah, as elsewhere, “[t]he determination of whether the communication has sufficient reference to the subject matter of the litigation is a question of law.” Ortez, 802 P.2d at 1312 n.8; Krouse, 20 P.3d at 897 (upholding dismissal pursuant to the judicial proceedings privilege on Rule 12(b)(6) motion). Because Cathie’s statements in her affidavit easily bear “some relation” to the divorce proceedings as evidenced by documents quoted in and central to Lynn’s claims, the trial court appropriately dismissed the slander of title claims. Of course, even if this were a close case, which it is not, “[d]oubts should be resolved in favor of the statement having reference to the subject matter of the proceeding.” Debry, 992 P.2d at 984.

B. The Judicial Proceedings Privilege Also Bars Lynn’s Wrongful Initiation of Civil Proceedings Claim As Pled.

Lynn’s claim for wrongful initiation of civil proceedings also is barred by the judicial proceedings privilege. As discussed in detail above, the doctrine provides that “an attorney at law is absolutely privileged to publish false and defamatory matter of another in communications preliminary to a proposed judicial proceeding, or in the institution of, or during the course and as a part of a judicial proceeding in which he participates as counsel, if it has some relation thereto.” Beezley v. Hansen, 286 P.2d 1057, 1058 (Utah 1955) (quoting Restatement of Torts, Vol. 3, § 586). Contrary to

Lynn's arguments on appeal, Saunders never argued, and the trial court did not conclude, that the privilege bars all claims for wrongful initiation of civil proceedings, only that the privilege bars Lynn's construction of the claim here. (R. 194-97.) Significantly, despite his status as the only other litigant to the Fosters' divorce, the sole "meritless theory" alleged by Lynn in his complaint is the filing of Cathie's allegedly slanderous affidavit. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 12-16, 21-28; R. 20, 22-23.) Under the privilege, as set forth above, attorneys are "absolutely" privileged to publish false material in the course of judicial proceedings, so long as the statement bears "some relation" to the subject matter of the proceedings. See, e.g., Ortez, 802 P.2d at 1312 n.8; Beezley, 286 P.2d at 1058. Lynn's wrongful initiation claim is barred by the privilege just as his slander of title claims are barred by the privilege.

Because the privilege bars his claims as a matter of law, Lynn now suggests that the Court must assume that all manner of other "meritless" (but non-defamatory) theories also were advanced in the divorce sufficient to breathe life into his wrongful initiation claim. For the reasons set forth in Part I, however, any meritless theory Lynn might articulate will not constitute the wrongful initiation of civil proceedings as a matter of law.⁷ Lynn's wrongful initiation claim, as pled, clearly derives from an alleged slander, and is therefore barred. As set forth above, any other "meritless theory" he might attempt to articulate instead will not constitute the wrongful initiation of civil proceedings as a matter of law, rendering the privilege unnecessary.

⁷ Indeed, Silver v. Mendel, cited by Lynn for the proposition that the judicial proceedings privilege should not bar a proper cause of action for the wrongful initiation of civil proceedings, makes that point with particular clarity. There, the Third Circuit Court of Appeals, like every Utah court to have considered the cause of action, concluded that "imposition of liability for the wrongful use of civil proceedings occurs only when litigation is instituted both without probable cause and primarily for a purpose other than that of securing the proper adjudication of the claim in which the proceedings are based." 894 F.2d 598, 603-04 (3d Cir. 1990) (last emphasis in original).

III. THE TRIAL COURT ALSO CORRECTLY DISMISSED THE SLANDER OF TITLE CLAIMS BECAUSE THEY ARE BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF CLAIM PRECLUSION.

Even if Lynn's claims were not barred by the judicial proceedings privilege, the trial court also correctly dismissed them because they are barred by the doctrine of claim preclusion. Lynn makes only two arguments against this result on appeal, both incorrect. First, he repeats his argument that application of the doctrine requires "assess[ment] [of] facts outside of those pleaded in the Amended Complaint," Appellant's Brief at 32, which fails for the reasons set forth in the previous section. Second, Lynn misstates the doctrine of claim preclusion entirely, arguing that it should not apply because the judgments obtained by Lynn's assignors, Foster Rentals and Foster Family, in the first two lawsuits on these facts do not expressly "release" Saunders who was "not [a] part[y] to the quiet title actions." (Appellant's Br. at 33.) Lynn's unsupported assertion that claim preclusion requires a contractual "release" of the precise defendant who must later assert the doctrine directly contradicts Utah law and stands claim preclusion — and its policy of discouraging seriatim litigation and of promoting judicial repose — on its head. Office of Recovery Servs. v. V.G.P., 845 P.2d 944, 946 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (claim preclusion protects "vital public interests including (1) fostering reliance on prior adjudications; (2) preventing inconsistent decisions; (3) relieving parties of the cost and vexation of multiple lawsuits; and (4) conserving judicial resources.").

As the Court is aware, claim preclusion will bar a cause of action if "three requirements" are met:

First, both cases must involve the same parties or their privies. Second, the claim that is alleged to be barred must have been presented in the first suit or must be one that could and should have been raised in the first action. Third, the first suit must have resulted in a final judgment on the merits.

Madsen v. Borthick, 769 P.2d 245, 247 (Utah 1988).⁸ For claim preclusion to apply, the two cases need not involve identical parties, as Lynn contends. (Appellant’s Br. at 33.) Instead, the two cases must involve the same parties “or their privies.” Madsen, 769 P.2d at 247. Utah law is clear that claim preclusion not only bars a second lawsuit by the same plaintiff against the same defendant, as Lynn urges, but also bars “subsequent litigation concerning the same subject matter against . . . agents, alter egos or other parties with similar legal interests.” Press Publ’g, Ltd. v. Matol Botanical Internat’l, Ltd., 37 P.3d 1121, 1128 (Utah 2001) (emphasis added). Moreover, “[g]enerally, an employer-employee or agent-principal relationship,” such as existed between Saunders and Cathie in the divorce, “will provide the necessary privity for claim preclusion with respect to matters within the scope of the relationship, no matter which party is first sued.” 18 MOORE’S FEDERAL PRACTICE, § 131.40[3][f] (Matthew Bender 3d ed.) The trial court correctly held that claim preclusion is established here.

Lynn claims to have received his slander of title against Saunders by assignment from the Foster L.L.C.s. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 1, 32, 34; R. 17, 24.)⁹ Those entities obtained final judgments in the two actions against Cathie, which suits also were based on the statements made in her affidavit in the divorce action. (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 17, 30, 34; R. 21, 23, 24.) Lynn’s complaint alleges that Foster Rentals obtained a “judgment and decree quieting title” against Cathie on July 30, 2001, and seeks to recover both Foster Rentals’

⁸ By his failure to offer any argument on the point, Lynn concedes that Saunders has established these elements. American Towers Owners Ass’n v. CCI Mech., 930 P.2d 1182, 1185 n.5 (Utah 1996) (“Issues not briefed by an appellant are deemed waived and abandoned.”).

⁹ Under Utah law, which Lynn again declines to refute, an “assignee is subject to any defenses that would have been good against the [assignor]; the assignee cannot recover more than the assignor could recover; and the assignee never stands in a better position than the assignor.” SME Indus., Inc. v. Thompson, Ventulett, Stainback and Assocs., Inc., 28 P.3d 669, 676 (Utah 2001).

and Foster Family's "attorneys' fees, costs and expenses incurred in clearing title" in those actions. (*Id.*) Lynn's complaint also alleges that Saunders' liability in this action arises out of her actions as Cathie's attorney and "agent" during the divorce. (Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 7, 20; R. 18, 21.).

Accordingly, because Lynn's assignors obtained final judgments against Cathie, Saunders' principal, in two previous lawsuits, because those lawsuits also arose out of the statement in Cathie's affidavit, and because those lawsuits involved the same parties, their privies or their assignors, Lynn's slander of title claims also were correctly dismissed for the independent reason that they are barred by the doctrine of claim preclusion.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ALSO CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE SLANDER OF TITLE CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The trial court also properly dismissed Lynn's slander of title claims because they were untimely as a matter of law under the one year statute of limitations applicable to claims for libel and slander. Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4). For this reason, Lynn attempts to convince the Court that the three year limitation period for injury to real property set forth at Utah Code Annotated Section 78-12-26(1) should govern instead. (Appellant's Br. at 31.) The issue of which statute of limitations applies to slander of title claims is one of first impression in Utah. However, in the absence of a specific statute setting out a limitations period specifically for claims for slander of title, the overwhelming majority of American courts hold that the limitations period for slander and libel applies.

"[I]n the absence of a statute expressly referring to actions for slander of title, the statute of limitations applicable to actions for libel and slander applies to actions for

slander of title.” Bonner v. Chicago Title Ins. Co., 487 N.W.2d 807, 811 (Mich. Ct. App. 1992); see also 50 AM. JUR. 2D *Limitation of Actions* § 564 (1995) (same). Moreover, “[t]he majority of the courts that have considered the issue have held that the statute of limitations for libel governs actions for slander of title”; there is “no reason to vary the statute of limitations because property rather than a person is defamed.” Gee v. Pima County, 612 P.2d 1079, 1080 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1980); Hosey v. Central Bank of Birmingham, Inc., 528 So.2d 843, 844 (Ala. 1988) (adopting the “great weight of authority in this Country . . . that the Statute of Limitations applicable to libel and slander is equally applicable to actions for slander of title”); Norton v. Kanouff, 86 N.W.2d 72, 74-77 (Neb. 1957) (relying on a survey of case law nationwide to conclude that an action for slander of title is governed by the one year statute of limitations applicable to libel and slander).¹⁰ Because Utah has not enacted a statute of limitation for slander of title

¹⁰ Macia v. Microsoft Corp., 152 F. Supp. 2d 535, 541 (D. Vt. 2001) (holding that slander and libel limitations period applies to actions for slander of title); Scott Paper Co. v. Fort Howard Paper Co., 343 F. Supp. 229, 235 (E.D. Wis. 1972) (holding that libel and slander limitation period expressly covers actions for disparagement of property or trade libel); Lehigh Chemical Co. v. Celanese Corp. of America, 278 F. Supp. 894, 897-98 (D. Md. 1968) (limitation period for actions for libel and slander applicable to slander of title claims); Carroll v. Warner Bros. Pictures, 20 F. Supp. 405, 407 (S.D.N.Y. 1937) (same); LaBarge v. City of Concordia, 927 P.2d 487, 493 (Kan Ct. App. 1996) (adopting “the majority view” and barring plaintiff’s slander of title action under the statute of limitations relative to actions for libel and slander); Montgomery v. Milam, 910 S.W.2d 237, 240 (Ky. 1995) (same); Hanbidge v. Hunt, 183 A.D.2d 700, 701 (N.Y. App. Div. 1992) (holding that slander of title actions are governed by the one-year statute of limitation applicable to general slander actions); Hosey v. Central Bank of Birmingham, Inc., 528 So.2d 843, 844 (Ala. 1988) (adopting the “great weight of authority in this Country . . . that the Statute of Limitations applicable to libel and slander is equally applicable to actions for slander of title”); Gee v. Pima County, 612 P.2d 1079, 1080 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1980) (finding that “the majority of the courts that have considered the issue have held that the statute of limitations for libel governs actions for slander of title” and seeing “no reason to vary the statute of limitations because property rather than a person is defamed”); Gentry v. State, 118 N.W.2d 643, 647 (Neb. 1962) (same); Norton v. Kanouff, 86 N.W.2d 72, 74-76 (Neb. 1957) (same); Old Plantation Corp. v. Maule

actions specifically, the trial court correctly applied the one year limitation period set forth at Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-29(4), and held that both of Lynn’s claims for slander of title here are time barred.¹¹

Rather than distinguishing what is overwhelmingly the majority rule, Lynn urges this Court to follow one case, Howard v. Hudson, a federal decision concluding that, under California law, the statute of limitations for injury to real property should apply to slander of title actions. 259 F.2d 29, 32 (9th Cir. 1958). Lynn argues, as he did below, that because the Utah Supreme Court in dicta distinguished aspects of the tort of slander from that of slander of title in Bass v. Planned Management Servs., Inc., 761 P.2d 566 (Utah 1988), Utah courts are therefore obligated to apply the statute of limitation for injury to real property. The trial court correctly rejected this claim for two reasons.

First, Lynn’s argument utterly fails to acknowledge the fact that, nearly a decade after Bass, the Utah Supreme Court expressly declared that “[t]his court has never addressed the requirements to trigger the running of the statute of limitations in a slander of title action.” Valley Colour, Inc. v. Beuchert Builders, Inc., 944 P.2d 361, 364 (Utah 1997). More than merely leaving the issue open, however, the Utah Supreme Court in Valley Colour expressly declined to decide “whether . . . a slander of title claim involves

Industries, Inc., 68 So. 2d 180, 182 (Fla. 1953) (same); Buehrer v. Provident Mut. Life Ins. Co., 175 N.E. 25, 27 (Ohio 1931) (same); Bush v. McMann, 55 P. 956, 957 (Colo. Ct. App. 1899) (same); see also 50 AM. JUR. 2D *Limitation of Actions* § 564 (1995) (“In the absence of a statute expressly referring to actions for slander of title, the statute of limitations applicable to actions for libel and slander applies to actions for slander of title.”).

¹¹ Lynn filed his complaint on January 31, 2003, and conceded below that the slander of title claims accrued on May 3 and July 30, 2001, respectively. (R. 30-43, 136-37.) Accordingly, the only issue here is one of law — which statute of limitations properly applies to the slander of title claims. As such, the trial court correctly followed the clear majority rule, applied the one-year statute, and determined that the slander of title claims were required to have been filed on or before May 3 and July 30, 2002, and were therefore untimely.

injury to person or property for another day,” 944 P.2d at 364, the very proposition which Lynn urges is “clear” from Bass, and which (he claims) argues in favor of application of the statute of limitation for injury to property. Id. at 364. (Appellant’s Br. at 31.) Accordingly, no Utah law exists providing that Utah would (or should) apply the limitation period for property claims.

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